


COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS OF THE PEACE 

iTY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK, 

PART I • 

APPEARANCES: 

Assistant Districi Attorney Robert Townsend. f or the Peo 

cr tht, defence, Hugh_ C 1ernan, ,Esq., 



The jury having been examined, empanelled an 

sworn, Assistant District Attorney Townsend opens 

the case for the People. 

THE PEOPIEtS CASE. 

OBAL-D WE.NDLIN a witness caned on be 

le of the Fe ople, being du sworn and examined through 

the Official Interpreter Clus,,ave $t Albe, testafled as fol-

lows: 

MR. COLDAAN: I wiI] ask that all the witnest-

:es be requested to rettre from the court rocm ex-

ept thosebn- the witness stand. 

THE COURT: Yes. 

rect E x a ml n a t n: 

BY v1R. OTINSENDI, 

Where do you live, Mr. Wendling? 

MR. COLEMAN: He sleaks English very g 

THE COURT No,he does not app..ear to, 

'235 2a& t Eight e enth Street. 

BY P.TJNSEND: 

n,d what s.. your business? 

COLEMAN: Pardon me. I insist thst the 

witnoss speaks 

BY HE 00:YRTI 

Dci ycuIan c IT) van 4-)Nak ]ng1lsW A NO,. I don 



• MR COLEMAN. 'Why; I pros s examinertlii.rn tal, 

F fty-seventh street court, 

sbrrie English.. No, pnt your questions to him; 

T ownseind, and if.he does not un tieFit.t atik. them, 

the It erpret er may act, 

BY MR • TOWNSEND: 

Do you recollect the night of the 22d 'of July attt 

No ranswer). 

T(IlLe.qestidn is repeated through the Interpreter).Yes si 

per  

Did oa have any mone y with you that night? A y. sir. , . 

Where did y u have A In this poe ket ( n.di cat n 

hip pocket of his trousers.) 

In what? • A In a pocket -b o ok 

Where were y.ou. about half past eleven o'clock that night? 

t ook a wa3k on Third avenue I •found myse3f the e. 

7$e3l, di.dyougo as far as Thirteenth tre et? A s sir, 

to the Comer, 

Is that in the C• t3i' and County Of New York? A Y s 

."Ar 73 di d y..OU cneyr there,. A Yes, sir. 

t_ was shole sih,e-:de:re.ndarit SPG*6 o 6. 

h 

h 

And sW said: "Go od evonine, . Rti,3.3oa. 



"Gni 

You . area nite fell ow. 

. 13 what did you say' n the beginning I did not. 

ay. anything but the defendant kept a near the walking 

untj  about the middle of Thirteenth street. 

We 'I 11  what happen ed th en A Th e defendant sa id. t o me, I 

m living here in s one of these houses,and I invite you tc 

COLEMAN: Oh ho; I object to that. 

THE COURT let him finish his answer. 

MR. COLEMAN: But it w i3 3 get to the jur 

• HE COUR'' : I can determine ion it -Un3ess -the 

answer is c ark pI et e d. Piiii. s1 t he answer.' 

continued) And that last ed a c•oupl e of minutes . 

HE COURT: Obj e et i on sust am ed. *Strike out 

hat she tried to d 0. 

BY R. TOffNSEND: 

Wel I; what did she do then She acted. "i n a very forward 

way, and thell in order 

COIEM4r Objected. to, "In order to", That 

• is a -6 end lus ion . 

TFTE COURT: n te.3.3 -us'That "in order 



(::continued) Wel want ed t 0 get ri d• of her an 

tried to. push her away. 

MR. OWNSIND: 

I disengaged ray's e f fr cm this womalis grip ax wen 

my way. 

Whi ch way. did e he g 0, did y 'pa say? A The .de fend ant wen 

back to Thfd avenue.

Which Way d dyou gcr. A ph,. I went t briar ds Second wire-

e, 

Wel did rop, fin d ogli.zt anrthing tliehmf A T proceeded t o-
r 

war ds Second ajenu.e,and when I cams o the  0/Pi/ler there 

drugSt or e.I saw a light in the drug store and 'I had 

queer feeling about me about the Money. The . mc4ie y was 

rather bulky in My poc ket. and I ddrot feel that same 

weight,and so I t cOk the *pocketbook out aid opened it . and 

ascertained . that the money was g one, and instead of the mon-

y there .was the paper; a printed paper, a newspaper folded 

together. 

Have 'y(01.t got the pocketbook no* A O,sir; I hav&t got 

It 4'4* - 

We la. whenvQi thScO&aedyOz2rmOfleYYIaS gone, _what a 

you 4 9? A I vent up baoir to seejf ttve'. defendant was sti 3 1 

t hero sho vr.s not, any Ini,14e t her d 

e sb9 ;,a.t I  3.r won' . 



. , 
id y ou t el anybody about thi s matter' . , 

MR • COLMAN: Obj e ct e d t 0, on t1 gr cun d that 

nothing that he said, to anybody else, in the ab-

sence of the defendant, can be admitted. 

HE CO.URT 'ii1 not peril t the c on-

v rs at ion, but he has a right t o say whether be 

jrirored a nyb 

M? .C914EMAN: Not to te 31 -what -.was Said. 

THE COURT: Oh certainiy not 

to1dr 

• MR , QO1MM.: :I obj ect t o the -c cave rsati on. 

THE COURT: No.a i act going to give the 

C onver Sati on . 'gait ; 

( c oritinue d) I t 03d my. or 

BY TOR T ow' SEND: • 

ilThat Yf a s hi s name?' A B oebe r„ 

And. did y c to 31 'anybody el Be? A 

Yes • Y • long before you met this woman was t that 

know t ht you lad the money? A Before I left hQne 

count ed. • the /none 

"lith*: Ulna 4114 oti leave . hom 9 A It was one hun (Ire d and : 

because I had to aytilt do] ar o s;) mobOdy... 

. COI.a1141A/ Don. t say,because -MST 



what y di 

. T 

What t ime did you I cave htme A About eleven & el 

Di you go anywhere exc-ept to the . corner of Thirteenth 

.street end Third avenue did not feel well this 

evening,andI ddn ot want to go anywhere except to take - 

a walk: 

When did you see this woman again after thatnight? 

A About eight days a ft er. 

well, where was she when you saw her' A In Fitt e enth or 

Sixteenth street, Cantt say exac 

er eab ou s n Fifteenth or Sixteenth street? A On the 

sidewalk with ai other woman. 

Was any person with yob.. -A Y sir, Mr. . r ank. 

Vefl,'what ha e d when you saw hex? addressed Mr. 

Frank arid.I said t 0 him----

MR. COLEMAN. , Objected to. 

B AIR . SEN 

Was the de fen nt there then when y on s pok e to Frank 

A- No., no. 

n von t o)d, Frank something, and what did Frank do when 

au told Min e went right .up to the defendant and 

demanded rny money. 

And Thczt did you sa A I said,"Give me back 'my money 



And what di d she -fgaY? A She jmped., away. 

Which way did she go? Did you* see? A T owards eeQn 

avenue, 

Did. anyone follow her? A *Ye g sir, we fo)]owedh.r• 

1 1, did y ou cat ch her, cat oh up to h r? s,1 r. 

Where was She: when y au. caught her? 

park; near Sixteenth street 

jWas yt hi ng 

in one y. 

And what did 

drive: away.:: 

Vie2 what haptenedthen 

driver, "This thief. 

MR. OlEittlAN: 

• said. • 

THE COURT . Obj ecti on orerru1ed. 

in he r pre sal cc. 

MR COLEMAN: let me get my reason on the rec-

ord, because there is no evidence that it was sa.LC 

in her hearing. Exception. 

It was n ear the 

d to her? A Yes si-r • I said to return th.e 

he say LA She  j umpe d. in a cab an.d Want ed 

c ont inue-d) The. cab 

A..Thei,..vte3iared*o the 

She must a) me out 

obj eat t 0 that whet they 

was sti d 

cirlirer t ck the defendant out of 

th 'e dab and eh. e wanted to 3..eave her hat- a s a p1 edg e unt 13. 

she had one t o fet h the • mon ey. 

BY 141R • T OWN SEND: 

t _happen() d th.c.tn? A We al d aca pt that Pr 01).,-• 



a 

• osition and Mr.. Frank sa d Ahe.-defen dant• said t Mr, 

Frank that he should- conic al ong- with her and I should wait 

there. 

'We 1 what 'happened th mi? A Then Frank stepped in a Se 

one avenue car with the defendant and I remai n d there on 

the spot waiti 

Did you see. the defendant. aLn that y 8 8 

liii6re9 A In the Police • station houses 

That niglit? A Yes, sir, 

Did- ank come back that night to see you? A T.e . d not 

return but a policeman cat and . fetched me. 

Fetched the 1,/ (Man ANo, fetched inc. 

7et.ched y •cul the complai.nant? A sir 

And was anything said in the station house by  y ou. to t,hci-

de,fenda t or did the defendant say i yt 1/ing to y cu or 10 

anyone? A Nothing. 

Did. y ou ever get .y cur Money baar A No, sir. 

there anyddoubt in your mind at ill. as to this being the 

w oma . 

iir. COLEMAN: i ob ect t a the fcrim of the 

question. 

THE C OUR9 Obj ecti on ov erru 3 ed. 

MR. COLEMAN: I' obj ect t 0 i as in° cmpeten 

irr elevatit .and irpmaterial and as calling for an 

t meet that on  the re err 



No doubt wbatever. 

Examination: 

Y MR. COLEMAN: 

ow, ycu don't *understand ything th i s said in ng 1 i sh, do 

you? A Ye s; 

Let the. Interpreter stand aside .for a'moment. 

Y MR. COMA/ 

• sa oti lands rs tan d eV er yth ing that a 4 in Eng 11.1aff A ye 

sir; not everit 'trig • 

You don t understand everything. that is said in ordinary 

C onve rsat I on d ó y A I don ft un der stand • (t he qu st io 
f 

s repeated. by the Interpreter) A can catch the sense 

of the phrase or sentence *but I can not rri wer 

You can not answer. A No,sir • 

Then, y.cu don, t know everything tIi4 is s4d toy cu in in 

ordinary ccnversat ion? A Yes eb uniler Stand 

. you re min ber that y ou were cross e Amin ed by me int he-

i'ifty-seventh Street Court' A (no a1swer) (The u es - 

on i s repeatedthrough theInterpreter). kYes, si r 

r o ma gibe r 

Now, cion't you re Cal )ect stating thi s----when I asked o..1 

-when was the first time that MI had mis ed your money, 

and y Oa answer ed, 1"Then I g at back t o the h 

unstndcay quest foal (No 0.13..SweY 

rni S 

Doy. 

.vortr 



money when you went yp t Thirt e e.nt Ii s tre ;t and y cu said 

when icu g opt back to y our home 0 you remember that? 

I do not understand. (The question is repeated 

thr outh t e interpreter) When I went hcme. 

THE COURT: No, a sh e wasg oing home, he sai3, 

Mr,Interpreter. 

THE INTER PRETER yesp n his way h cm e 

THE COURT: He says t h!st .he iswered you, mr • 

Col amen  that tine, that: he noticed it first when 

he was going lime • 

MR COTF4viAN: Very we)). 

N ow , whet t ime did you go h cm e on Saturday night,the 22 

of July? .A After a out twelve o c lock, aft er . the occur-

rence.  

n o, nYou we re ou t duo ing th e day on Sat urd.a..y, 

weren't youT You we re out of 'y our h ous e w er en t 'You? 

It was Sa turd& y, not Sunda y. 

d al t. mean• Sunday. I f, I sa id Sun day, I meant Satur da 

A It was Saturday, y not Sunday. 

'e 3 do -y cu rem en b er bd. g out ofyourhouse on S tu.r day 

Onlyint he rnoinixig I 



04Nii 

12 

aft er y .1 ef t the bank? A Abo1 ten or half past  

In the • morn lug A In the morning.i 

And did you. re mai n in• the house al] da yes., di 

n °tie e I wel . • 

BY THE COURT:. 

Whet Rind of a day wasit? t was in July, was it not? 

A It was a fine dki 1n July. 

BY NM COLEMAN: 

N ow, wh at t ime di d you ease y ourla otz se .t.h at e ye ni ng• t 00 . 

out? A -About ele Van clock, 

Did aiybody go out of the house with you when yai w ntt 

A:. - 1 o s 

:Did Y ou 

I3Y 

By 

r wel.t out alone... 

And you live between First and second avenue, do you. n ot? 

N s. r betWe en Second and Third avenue 

that r ight 

TE COURT;• 

And on ighteeith stre et ?, 'A Ye4sir. 

MR.. COLEMAN: . . • • 

at; numb, r yoU ye in? A 23,3.. 

N ow, how. many in the -family have y °a g ot ? I. uncles st.en 

,you are a married m Are youl am• all al sone. 

-lave a. amily but am all al on e at pre set 

We l], you' . family we re living th you thon., waye t' n 



'they are in germanys 

'Are you married? A I was married 

You are a widower'? A Yes, sir. 

yrrar wife. js dead?: A Yes sir 

nAd you have not reruiarrie4 have Yee" A 

Do you. board there in that house? A Ye4 r; i board-

ther e. 

e 3 3, whexi j say yOU board, presumeI th youea•t youx 

/flea s as ve 31 as s et there, do you? A Yes, s.ir, I have : 

my." Ines. is and S lee ?tller 

Now, did you have anything to dr ink that evening before 

y 01,1  went out9 A did not drink t hat day, because 

cid cl not feel well 

ou were not thirty? N sir; I had. lemonade. 

ow . wh en- you wn t out. -of .t he  house, . n vh x ch dir eeti on 

o & •ArOncis s c miler of' Eighteen h stree., an 

.Thrdaver2ue. 

THE COUR'V It s a large drug house. 

ital.. COLTMAN e Sir; I know where i.t 

Tiz 21 ff on the tirn e that, y Qi left y atr h ous e y ou. g ot: 

own o• or up 

taik with then dirl. not Ire et myone and d.id not 



intoDid you go  any 1,3 a ee to have a drink while yàu were, 

on Third avenue that night? 

Did you go right dn tOThlrteenth street,right straigb 

want ed t 0 go.down to the 

en Arent dcwnas far ai Thi rt eenth. street, 

did you? A yes, sir. 

And this va s about halt past e even o'clock on Saturday 

night, was it not? A be leve It was Saturday,. but I 

You are not quit e 

1) 14 t you have tI 'defendant arrested on Saturday n 

.a• wee if yes or no. 

Saturday fol. svi‘ *ft oil/a 

It was ox the.22dday.Ju3y,wa it nOt?A Yes,. i1 qf 

e ithe r the 224 or the 21st. I heiieve it was the 22d, 

A It was the 22d. 

Mfl. COIEMA14:. Let m have the angina] a-Nidavi 

there. 

C 0 TAMAN : 
appearing 

You rernen .ber 13jjxj j nt he 111,i ft 



"al ; 

Sunday 'morning. 

COLEMAN: I wj]j state, between the af a, 
.it and the fact s in. the ca se the re I s a diger span-

cy of one day. 

COUR We]], he says it was ,landst morn-

i.ng when he • was  tire. 

MR CO IEMAN Ii e 15 r I gh, t about bet ng t he re 

on Sunday aria ing and thatwas the - 30th, and the 

pa pr S say the 2 9th'. T at was the. day before. 

s :important for ore and 1f the District Attorney 

vri.13 •adinit that it was a ml stake, I i J concede 

that his evi den e is right as to the Saturday :night 

be fore 

TtiE COURT ITo. That a. , for -the 5ur y to de-

1,ermLne,not vi,whether the te st imony • s right 

o n . 

. COLEMAN: 

e 1.1 y al caused the arc est of th s defendant on a Satur-

ay night?  A Yes si r 

And it vas a weak be fore th4 • titre that. the money was stolen 

fr v ou as yoii say? A yss 

Then, wa s on a Saturday riipht Viet the mon ey was st ol en 

r oal y - r r* 



Of his testimony. 

By R.1A  COLEMAN: 

Now, when y al -wett down from Eighteith street an d Third 

EIVOnu 

the viCinity. of Fourteenth Street,d. yai not? 

A Oh, a gr eat min y. • 

Yes. The crowd was that 'thick in the neighborhood of 

ourt e/Inth Street that they were  j ostiing against each 

ch'r g 

thi s tjne the s not a crowd. thel e. 

Wha t? At half past el, sv e 010 lock on a Saturday ni gh t, in 

that I Oaslit y? A I had. no tr cub ie to go ov er ther e: 

7144 iS t hat ? A r had no tro 1.1) 3 e to w a3k tliraigh there 

Certainly not Yn .did not have an t nb e to go doWn 

thr. 01 igh t he or ow d ther'el di d .7 Cu? A No. 

‘1.c) s ir 

• you can walk t1r Ou i a v Or/ thi ck crowd w it h ou t any tr oub.le 

you? A - larg:e crowd c)ry mixed t og eth er it WY tt an 

tr oub IL? 

And a smaz er of c q1.14 f y at • !al k ed rowr . ge, 

Cy• mid; zJ3y c1c$iv.. Mixed to her, there :s rnom 



ffIN Li ; 

or les s j ost ing, is t1re not., ma large crowd? 

A Why not? 

Why not? A Yes. 

IT 11, I wi 3 take the quest ion as an anew er. It is Ed 3 

right. Now, after y cu. got dam to Thirteenth street di 

y on and this wo rna,n 'walk down towards S8cond avenue 

Yes si r• 

•Did you go inl'o any place fr cynthe tiros that  you left Thir-

teenth street Until you got home to your place k No. 

don't mean i Y immoral place; I don't mean that at a) I. 

The questi on that I put t 0 y ci I s n at for the purpose of 

showingen ything imrnora 1, but .did you g o int 0 any liquor. 

u ore or in any cafe or any eating house . or any bind of a 

respectable house fror rn the till, you left Thirteerp h street 

or any plac..,? A I never go in a liquor Et ore. I only g 

in a rmen re staur an 

Well,did y g6 into 

No, .no. 

Did you go right straight h.ctne? A Yes, sir. I had no 

rnoremoney. I had lost my money and I waskind of dazed. 

fly Gen an . restaurin t that ni art, 

Now the woman who hit y.ou did she go West or dtd she go 

- East after she. left you? A' She walked ortards Third avenu _ 

44:1 oa, walk ed dorn t oyards econd avenue A Ye; sir., 

Ana then vou :cnt up Second vtvenue? A TO rny ()use y eS • 



Up t'o.Eighteeith street and intoyour house? k Yes, s3. 

d you did not stop on the way after you ]eft this W 

A No, no. 

And you. did n ot go to look for her, did .you? A • e 

q*:You did. not lock for her that, night? .QA AS so cn as I unde 

s and n the street near the drugstore, that. III ad float the 

money, I went immediately after her, it got about Ara 3.f 

Thirteenth. street and Sedond avenue. 

u go in -to the drugstore? A  No, sir.. 

'THE COURT we vi, 13 3 take a recess. now, Mr. 

CoIerran. 

And before taking a recess, gent lenn, of t he 

my .ditty to caution y cu not to discuss 

any subjectconnected with the trial of this 

case, among y,.bur se lv es, .or with aiyone else or form - 

or expre ss any opinion.  t hereon. unti I the case 

ffna3 lv s ubmi t1e d 0 you • 

lifIncl 3y be in your seats at two o'clock. 

And the. Court wi 3 take a recess until then, 

A7TER. RECESS.' 

HE 0BA E N D L I N his Cross Examination 



BY MR COLE 

Nor,, the last quest ion I asiced'y,oti Me'm9ry serves 

'me right  was that-  you went drugstore, at the °or.--

nor of .Thirteenth street and. second avenue. ,Wast hat, your 

t d'd not enter the d ugstore. 

You did not go into ,the -drugstore? A.- go,. I saw the Iight 

of the drugs ,ore and Counted .the money inmy pockets 

Aecond.avenue Yes, on. e cOrner 

On the north-west corner?. A on the 'West side. 

Yes that right, It is on the uptarn side of the stre 

Is it not that drugstore? A. Y s s ir. 

And we s t het the fi rat t lrne that ssed the man ey 

ecau - 

Never mind "becatms ust answer. my questions. How. 

ong..a ti me was it before you left the house before you 

house? 

ch pocket 'did you carry your 'handkerchief? A In the 

left t pocket. 

'Arh*, kind of a coat did 'you have on th.st . n" t? A A" short 

jacket. 



Something like thi s, was it (indicating his own sack 

c oa )? A Yes,sir. 

And was t open or closed? A Yes sir, opi. 

#a jt a flannel or, serge jacket or clothVA t was a 

kind of c oth, 

A cloth? A -Ye,sir. 

And did you have a vest a A Y s,sir, 

"Wel dal t, want t be impertinent, but I want to ask 

you a que sti 011. 

•neglige- Shirt? had a colored shirt with a starched 

Qs orn or froa 

Or **you snicking that night .c cMing davn Thirteenth-wpm e 

A No sir. 

cw. Many people did you see on the c caner of  Thirteenth 

stree and Third avenue when. you got there A Sono. 3y, 

poll ceimn that passed by. 

ota ee a p Ticermtn. there? A When I can * away from tale 

turning around the corner. 

Around the comer of Third avenue? A TheSecond avenue 

cornet. 

Did 'y ou pass the di f icer? A No. I only saw him fr 

*afar,andl wanted to ca,11 on him. 



• south side of Second Avenue. 

gel), then, if you had. cal led tohirn, he c rtainlyk would 

have heard you, w culd he not? A In themoment I was so 

eicai t ed and calfused that I c oul d not do anything. 

could not doanything . ow old a man are you? A Pci'-

ty-three years o d 

And how many years have you been living 1. n thi s country 

• A T en months. 

Where had you been living be fore.• that titre n 0-ermany.,ffi  

he City of Berlin. 

Had you ever been in the Unit ed states be fee- e9 A Yes sir, 

three year s ago. 

rt. New york City? 

MR. C .01131v1AN would respectful 3y sug 

go31t o.the.interpreter that hesay yes or no bri-

th e witness. 

BY MRS Cc/JEMA/ Now, you. say y cut were here i three years ago? 

s ir, for ten months. 

No,w hot( long had y Cu been in this country when you calm 

here before? A About eleven months, 



1114filti 

• Eleven nonths did y ou ea 9 Y s r. 

Where were yot livin.g then; in New york City? A Yes Si lg. 

Where' A 356 Second avenue. 

356 Second avenue? A Yes ,sir. 

d y oa - go h ome u tIflV Ough Sec cn d avenue from the drug-

tore? A Yes sir.. 

You wenr rLght up straight, did. you? A Ye sir. 

To Eighteenth street? A To Eighteenth street, 

That I s, you we nt nort h? A Tow ar ds Eighte ent h s tree t. 

Y.es • Then, if I understand ou. correcly,the moment you 

ever missed your money yOu Continued to walk. Up Second 

avenue t o Eighteei th s tr ee t? Is that correCt? 

7 s 

-And did not cal 3 t o n y of fi cc r; di d y ou? A N c, sir, 

don'tYot  know wh:eth enry Cu. had that money in your pocket 

-at any tilre after you left the house that night; d o you? 

A Oh, yes nattu-a lly Co unte d the money :before 

t it in my pocket. 

You counted it at the house9 A • Yes, sir,in the house.. 

And that was the last time you saw Your Mon. eY n the 

house? A Yes. 

And. what did y ou have t has. In one y in9 t n what shape was  th e 

meThyh1n that Pocket book a roll of bills o/ in a 



Itathalr Puree th-e-Taue as it i s w crn in Gering' 

d ha many years have y a. had that little purse 

About a Year and a half, 

vd. 11 ask you this que iti on tor my inf °mat on:n ow 

when you say, in a leather purse do you mean a long flat 

pocketbook or a smi 13 _purse or that'It was a  

feet bag. 

A bag9 A Y ;sir, with a _lit tie-

Wi th a litt le c1asp on top? A yes,sir, that opens with a 

s pri rig. 

And th is about the usual length of it (i lus tratin 

e s sir . 

rt.:was s.oft and would r obi over wad d.oub e up? A. No, no. 

Only you Could Ppefl. it. 

mean, After .y cu. Closed the.. purse, t would double over 

in that. way nitrating. ,wouldn't cal d. 

11-se was standing up straight, wasit? A Tl1is Way-

lila rating ) e obj eot *6.0t just as big a smy pocket, and. t 

was high in my pocket ,crossveige. 

It was as large- as your pock.et? A.  Yes sir . 

And the t op of the .pui.ise was g old or bt'ass or sole' kind-

mbunting? A Yes r. 'ome ki,1:1d. Of Inetl a • 

awl. then; tho top of thw171.- o be :i-ftadil (,n. xi 



y pock et becan se it watt quite:thi ek 

. And 7 Cu stet ed a short ti me ago, if 

y ou, th t in. pas•sing 

eenth s tr eat there was quite a cr ovid of Tie .ople the e 

walking "backwards and .f orvvards• and up and dOlffnI 

Just as: y Meet them every day, only that r was 

not _exactly jfl a crowd.  

Wel 11 ou are pretty we  1 posted about Fourteenth street, 

are you not? That jSy:cu, are pretty we I 'acquainted with - 

ourteenth street fr.-0m one end t a the otheil A Yes r 

because r 3iVe in Eighteenth s tr eet 

And you. often go up and down Third air e and piss lrourteellz 

street in the evening?" A Once in a .whi 

And you. -g out at night to take a walk along there ,.for ,the 

bnefjt of y our health very; frequ t ly, .do you riot! 

Sornetires, yes. • 

. And y cu noticedthat ‘a out that pa,rti r hour of 

eve fling, there w g e "cr gad of 'young men and young' werr.  

s, as usuai N oAr ch side.of Third avenue lvas she 

he east side or the west si de? A On th.e east si de. 

owa eds Second ave.oio Ayes si 



E COURT: 

Off, as I Linde :rs tand aft e r y ou a.r rive d at the drug at or et 

corner of Second avenue you put your _hand in your pocket 

and then what d d ou discover, .what did notice? 

noticed that my pocketbook had gintoqt grown tinier, 

and I felt instinctively that' cmething has transpired t 

And did you take out the pocketbook? A Y s s r. 

And examined it? A Yes sir . 

And what did you find? A. I discovered a sort of a blue 

paper that looked 'very much like money. 

Was any 

the house,' in there? A Al] was gone and the pocketbock 

was 
open.nd

 t1 pocketbook as open? A Y s sir. . 

0 1 PH FRAN a witness cal1edon behalf of the 

people,  being duly sworn, t esti fi ed as foll ow s: 

r e C t E x a na t i o n.: 

TOWNSEND: 

Where do you live? A I live at 221 Fast Eighteenth street. 

And do you .know the c.cmplalning witness in this case, 

Wendling? A Yes. 

oa, know him? A Yes. 

Do you live there with him? 



Wel did you live with him al the 22d of july last? 

Yes,sir. 

Look at the defendant at the 'bar and state whether you 

have ever seai her before A 

Before t 

Wel when' was that y cu .flrst saw her to know her? 

A On  the evening, or rather the night, when the arr es 

:Was made. 

'Well, iha.t, uas after the  22d of July 

About when was at remember th.e te. It was the .. 

28th of ju 3st . 

*and w 4s t here an. on e wi.'t h y oi at the .t irne? A Ur• Wenc11143:g.' 

'myself. 

And where .were y Qt A we •:were at the come r Of. Eighteenth 

street and Third avenue. 

In the COority. of NeW York? Yes, sir. 

e Use hi a language as near as -y pi can? 

A .I want my .rnori e . 

ivan.t my inOn e -Yes, 

Vher e ittlie she t ehn A She .via-stizTning from the 'Corn el* Of 



near StuyveSant Par 

And what time was that? •A About half 1.1-2,st ttwelve. 

At night? A At night 

And when Mr. Wen.dling spoke to her, what did she !ay or 

A At the very 'first moment, could not say what She 

said,because I was owing Mr. Wend ling 

d 'then whilt happened 

the m On ey. and suddenly 

A He act used her of having taken 

younit Man a ppea ed who tried to 

separate this: wanan and Mr. Wendiing. 

- Sarno Stra.ng. e'rtA Yes, sir. 

• What did he say? A The str azig er d t 0 hold Mr • Wend,-

ing t di prevent him fr On: f ol Owing the Yo man 

We] ],what did you :d••A We Aas iinD3Y standing 

1 t re for the mornent doing. nothing. 

Yes, Well,. what was Said by anycñe. A Subset:pi ent jy the. 

0man Said that she bring the money b ack,an d was wi.3 3-

0 .oave h or • hat as a P.] edg e. 

• Yes.; A B t 1 said that wqi,]dn't do.. 

Trei 3,what hap rene then? A And then . she.: made also an at 

-temp t obirda c whi ch was passing, by. 

And tnany she turne-d ar cun d. and ran to the COr 

ner. Of Fifteenth- street d. Second 'avenue and boarded 

car. 

And what did. you d A I wm ab3 e to board the same 'car 



Q, 

I. 

and rcdelip with her. t o.Twenty-first st1;.ee.t• During the 

time of the ride she said to me that If we -wou d'reinelina 

the sane p3ac.e where we firet met her, she  would bring bac" 

the money o.u,s but t cad not plac'e any.`credence in her . .„ 

story;I f o33..owed her-, I remained on the Car,rather, 

until she jumped: off. the car at Tivent -ftrst street and 

*ran towards- Third *avenue, and. I fo33ovied her and. cal 3ed 

officer's attent I Qi to her,and he ifiade the arl'es 

hat didyQi say to the officer in her presence I t 3 cl 

e offid;i2 t o p3 ease ho3d this wcinan, as she had.r obl?ed a 

fri nd of mine of some money, and he Would cane up later to 

.rxtake a c crnpl a int . 

And, what• did S he say? A She p_ Ot ested.to have never 

seen me and requested the po3icerral. Ithr go. 

And -What did the poll canan do? , A. The. policemsk held 

Afld t ook her where' A Held her right at the same place. 

And did .Wendling cone n A No, no. 

Well,• what ha p-pene d .then9 A I went back to the .same place 

where t suppose d Mr. Wendling coals' be fcund again but I 

did .not find him and then I wert to his house, where he re-

sided at the same tiine and did not find hirn thEre, Then I 

ret"urne_d. to the place where the woman washeld by the poL-

31ceman as mai, as I can say Twent y:first street en d 

avenuA), und .70 e et not.  

.0? 
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BY 

MR. COLEMAN: Obj °et ed 

T OM SEND : 

Yc reported to the cf fi r? A Yes,ir, 

THE COURT:. 

d the defen latit was thereat thetime?  A Yes,sir. 

THE C CUR TAllowed,  

. CcifEMAN.: Exception, 

A art limed) Aft er that al other li.oemaxi ca n:e u 

He requested this policemai totake the wo man t.o the st a.-. 

ti on -house saying • th e comp I a nant w oul d foil r si o tut . 

R. ORISET,ID: 

We 1], En what hap pen e d? A And then we went to the St a-

t i.on House, 

Ari d ther.e MY' Wen dli ng a.p pea re d? A Ye s 4 r. 

And lodged a .cqnp int. against her? A .Yes,ir. 

Was there ' any. f urther c..cnv ers at ion held b etW e en th e defend-

ant and in yb o dy at the station house? A No, 8 

ou. knew Mr Wend ling for se vera 'y ears? A 

How long? A I j ve 6 at the h cu. se 233 East Eight went h 

street last Spring when he moved in ther eiancl irithat w 

became ac qua Int'b d w it h him. 

Do you kn ow a gent leman by the name of J ohn 'Kopek? 

know' him now, of c. curse . 

Yo•n-d you. know th at th ere i-s. such a man? A No, I di d 

11, 

r10411 

El) 
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not notice him a al J 

•0 

BY MR. -COLEMAB: 

Now, did yqi. testi rY 

n the excitement' at that time, 

a. i.-n On: 

Fift y-7severith str est ccurt  at the 

time the defendant was arraigned? A Yes, r; I was pres-

ent. 

And nd.you. were cross-examined there? A Yes s r. 

You say, that the defendant went towards the cab? A y s 

en .y ea and your friend came up?, A Yes, 

And had a a ckiverisaiion? A Yssir, 

And she did not get into the cab, did she? A No,six 

Are ycL sure out that? A tilt e sure 

quite sure? A Yes sir. 

Then,anybcd y else said that she ode in a cab they wouJd 

state wv. t is untrue? 

THE  COURT: There isno such t est irnony here. 

She did not ride. There i s no sudi t es timony 

here.•  

COIEMAN: 

We]], where did. you see fliis ,)rfcrnan fir cn that night 

Third avenue and Seventeenth- street 

• And -what hour of the night was it?. A Half past twelve. 

nd .whePe di. d c qn e ore A Prom the Sub7 St at i n 

P ost Off ice at Eighth Btreet Lind Third avenue. 



1 

You mean) the Elevate d Stat.' on? A iio, no; the root Office . 

Sub Station. 

And was Mr. Wendling 171th. Y6a?.. A Ys sir. 

Wel Wen.dling„ as a matter of co.ur se) when he saw the 

vtom wets natural 1y excit ed, when -he rushed up ,t o he it 

He simp y said,There is that woanan who tocir that 

money fr .43f1 rne • 

.Well then he went us and de man de .d th e mon* back? 

YeS s r 

d when he said tha t he sp oke in an angry tone? 

He spoke very little! He .said simply, "My money, 

money 

lei 1 di da ' t he speak in an e.orre what angry t on e? 

In a a errand in g. ton e. 

We.11, in a commanding one? A Y s sir . 

When he  Spoke in a commanding s voi-ce was scrnewhat 

rough, was it nett? A I opu..3 d. not say tht, no. I could 

not.,stay that. Triply in a loud tale of vo'i ceso. as tobe 

para.. 

d ycu were oIe • to him, yreren t you9 A Quite,- He was a 

h distance  in. front Of • ra,e 

And then yeu came up. too? A Yes, sir; thei I came Up too! 

ad was the wcman frightened.any? A .Y s s r, she t ri ed to 

run away immediately; 

Y. qtj‘:1E; -first tbing Iexu3ing said to 1aer, when 



We 

+we.. 

he rushed up to he  was iv e me my 

t °wards her didr t he? A Yes si r. 

Yes sir,' 

ai yv d he ran* 

U h e3 d hi shands up, di dn t he, in a threatening attitude/ 

No. . 

3 y cti swear that he did not? A Hedidnot, 

Did he catch hold of h A I think 'he he id Y.1 er by the 

By the arm A Yes, sir,but I vta not 

You Say that a young man stepped in between the two? 

A y s sir. 

ma.n? A Yes si a y ming white. man, 

Ad he was walking along abont his big; ine Ss at the time, 

wasn't .he? A He came upon the scene very suddenly. 

And he to:Idwondling to let bis vio man alone, didn't he? 

. A No,sir. 

fte 1 then, there was soe kind of a. strugg e 'there, 

..y ou mi.gh t call it that way. 

And Wendling c ug t h( ld of her in a very harsh ma 

A No, This oung man st epped p between them, 

be have hold o the yo man.- in a very-  loving way?' 

le did not have hO,ld of' the  womai at the'time 

'Y on. n saw er be CV 9 A Nevi:n' • 



lad al 3. that yctt know. Eb .Out what occurred that night? . . 

two men rushed up to a strange weman and seized hold of her 

d fright ened her at that time of night 

MR. TOWNSEND: ON ected to. 

.0133ECTI CV SUSTAINED. 

she :ran  towards Sec ,t7nd avenue. 

And. she got a*ay:.:fr ch4 both of y Oa, didn't "she? A Yes,s1. 

In Other words, he vcrnan was 7606 mach for yo • 

was ab..le. to fOl ow..her.. 

nd whet d.id. the youn man say do? A Be tri to pre--

en t Wendling fr cm f ol I ovring he,but he ccul d 'not hold us 

both • 

Arid -then ha was holding her or ,foll offing her? A o. I sal 

"follarin her. 

And .w as that before or after tc,ck- hold Of her', 

:A *Wen dling did not have much chance Of holding h 

because this youngmap ap pea red immediate 

BY ITIE COURT.: 

Now, .one .moment . What is your bus mess,Frank'? 

A. I -sat a co).?-.t.eq, onthxig clerk in a anking Ocrnpany 
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Now, was there 4-1y other gentleman in the party with you

that- •? A No", sir. liewwre retUm ng' cm the $u 

ati on of the Post Off ice on our .way home, 

THE THIRD JUROR: 

Ls yaw; pre sen t. the time when 1r'• lire-bdling went Out 

fr a,: the ran in Eighteenth street? A What: n.ightl-

THE COURT: Do sr cu. Mein the night that he was. 

. r obb ed Mr. or? 

.THE JUROR,: Yes sir, 

THE WITNES.;1.: The nighthe was rcbbo d, I wasnot with 

Y THE JUROR: 

Well, were you in the house that night?. Al Yes sir.;' 

was wit h him n- the h eu se unt ii about ha] fpIast seyenand r • 

left the house beforehim and he to3d me of the occurrerice. 

Q, When? A The next r,norning. 

CO ZEMAN: Now 

H 

I move tint that answer .1toe 

'stricken. ou 'because 'it. was said in the absence 

of the defendant. 

THE COURT: Moti o deni ed. 

COIEMAN Exception. 

ItU tt ttItH tf 

0 P E X a witness cal le don b 'bait of the people, 

b in& duly sworn 'testified as fo330 

Exarninat 
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Where do you live? A I live no  'at 430 East Eightieth 

340 East Eightieth, I mean. 

nAd where did lo live last jUly? A 1543 lrirst a nue. 

2543 First venue? A Y 8 S1 ra 

Look at the defendant at the bar, and state whether You 

have Seen her before today? A Yes s r • 

When first? A have 'saw her at Sixteenth street, between 

Second and.Third avenue,r ght jnT the little sr eet that 

runs .opposite the park mear the. chrtrch.." 

When? A I semi her handing her hat • .Over to a man.nams 

"-Fran. never knew him before or seen.  him be eo re, s1 

said, ld my hat and I will give you. your money 

di d not kn ovt what the cruarreI was: ab Out or !bat they we re 

taking ab °lit at th 

through Yifteenth 

tittle and.then saw.her runni g dov, 

treet t:o Sec aid avenue, and there was 

inother, young nr ti o took p.o3d of this tall man-- w1t is 

s flame? 

Wendling? A Ye sir. And he was trying to lead hirr, t o a 

oar on Second avenu-e,and I fol lowed then up and .fo3 lOWed as 

ar as Twenty-first street and Sec al d.- avenue, and then I 

t twO fricer s onto them and .I told them that I thought-

MR. •C LEMAN • Obj ec te d 

THR.COURT: No,No. Don't tell us what you. 



MR. 

You. ,had a conversation with  the two et' ficers?. As 

And then what- di 4 you -.de A Ad then- I Wa lke d up to IPif-

teenth street with than and  stocd on. the corner, 

Wh the offi cer A With this mr. Wendling And. *then 

little4u 1e after an officer came up and he asked me-'--

MR . QIEMAN: Obj ected t 0. 

MR. OWNSFSD: No.m.tter. What happened.. fter 

zis  tom 

What did ha do, A And them we wa]keddowi to the statiCi 

house the next 

,BY MR. *TAillfSIOID: 

ddid you go dOrin to  the station house 

Q And there y,c1.1 saw. this• defendant? A .Yes 

tkieee iaarti es ris.ank and Wan daing and the defendant? 



A Yes ,sir. 

Can y ca fix that date?  A I believe it was about the 28th 

of July. 

Of last year? A Yes, sir, of last year. 

flross Examination 

y ()a see Mr. Wendling have ho 3d of the .defendant th.e 

c ornp3 a in ant in this case?not Wen dling I saw Mr • 

Frank. 

'That i s a I y saw? A I saw mr nk and Wen dling t 

Wend ling was not there at the frtiene that this an 

an Frank bad the cony ersati on" near the park? 

A Mr Wend ling was there 

Wash e present at the t m e -shf. handed, the hat to Frank? 

A I have saw prank and I have saw her hand th e hat t o 

Mr. Prank. 

And where was wen dung at that t iris ? A Well,he was sten d-

right there. 

Wh er e ARighneai. 

We 13 hownn ear? A 

thr ee fee 

Frozn thein A ys, sir, I do nct recollect just the-number 

of fee 
from g tting And de no ••effort to- .ettt. the .woman 



away?. Y he 

WeJ.3, now,when y on speak d' the park, what ,part of the 

park was th s at? A Righta ear Sixteenth street 

Near what av enge A s a . little street between Firs 

and Second venue,a  near Sec cn d avenue; ir runs two ba 

rya,i thiOli side of the park was it A On the west al:de. 

And where di d y Qi pcne fr ern, th at t ii? A I had' C one fr•ern 

d where did you 

street. 

And where aid you 3i ve then9 A 3:543 First avenu.e.. 

Ad .yrhere s that, between • what streets? A Between 

80th and 83 St 

s that number- agn, plea? .A 3 43 first avenue,' 

Between What streets iS that? A Betw een 80th and 81 t 

streets. 

And you carne:i r (Y.'n Third avenue, Y qi say? A Icame from 

Third avenue at Ala% time. 

And did yqu. gp throgh that • street alone? A Yes sir. 

What street was 1t9 A Sixteenth street. 

Wel 1, Sixt eenth stre d el% snot go through the park, does iti 

A No si r. 

d where were 'you, going.t 0 then A TO seeond avenue, 

the upt own ea r„ 
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Why di dn y ci g 0 thr cugh Sev ent ee nth stre et? A -we), 

just thought of _going through Sixteenth street at the trr. 

met a friend of mine on Third avenue,and I walked down 

"Soxteenth stre 

Did y cur friend walk tlaTo ugh Sixte6nth stte et with ycti. 

No, sii 

Where does n 1ivc A. On. 32th Street, pear second avenu-e. 

And where had y .ou been that t ime ? AI had b eendow to 

see my wife. She lives in Third street w ith my mother. 

What number? A 344, I- believe it -is,bear avenue C b 

tween B and C. 

And irThat brought you up n hird, aveque A We) 3 , 

ri end of mine' waalleed tilarougla Tp.trat. avenue hktum 

t 0 &Ica walk -cbrough Third avenue, 

And then yclu oameup through Third street t o the powery? 

not. the 'Bowery. lie walked thr Pugh sec cnd aye nu 

to hth street and then up Eighth stre to Third avenue. 

.We I i,- wasn't t hat going out of y our way 0 go home at . that. 

h our Qf the ni ht? A We 13 it. was but I th ought I wax I d. 

take a 3 ttle walk. 

oW.•1 cig had y Qi b een down with your wife? A We 1 b. 

ve t was until 4:-.) out twelve o c lock about twelve 

clock. It might have beta. about half 'pa t e even cv a 

qartor totwe lv e • 

•an d we 



And t hen y cu w al k d up t 0 Si x t x t h stree t and then down 

o th e par k? A Y s  Si  , 

And y 3 eft you r f i. end where? A I left him at Thi 

av • 

And he went on horn e? A Yes,sir, 

Now, in the hat!i•t of going d. vei q.ecCnd, aV 

•4hat way? A No sir 

• We]],y cu not kn ow, in going down Sixteenth street 

y au have t o turn either north a SOuth t ogot o the street 

a ove or below to get to Second aveme *a that time of 

night?. A What js that? 

If yougo Ilan Sixteenth etre et, on Third avenue, when you. 

get down to the -lit tie street where the chu rch 1 s, y cnj have 

t,ime night? Yes si • 

er e y ou down there ? A cert ain ay was. clown there. 

lif T wad not,• I wo )dn. not say that I Eo. 

131 1THE COURT  
Q. er 0 vO.i In the Police eq'irt th enext morning?. A Y s sir • 

the ft (int h st* 4 etlr u A. Y 4 s 

By .MR. 0 0 IEMAN: 



You acre not callecl were you? A No sir 

Nobody said anything -abou it? A N si-r 

TAT; COURT: H1s nape and. add ess are on the 

Poll oe C airt papers. 

rIOIEMAN: I s it down thele ? 

THE COURT: Yes. 

'MR 170 XETIflAN: ifell, I did not see him there. 

f 1t is on t her es th Is the end Of t1t. 

By lig CO MAN : 

said nolh pg -up there? A No sir • 

Now, did yQ, have any -conversation with Mr. Wen ciiing since 

this affair? A yes sir, several times, 

And. with Frank?' A yes sj.r. 

We3, that iSal 1 You know t out it? A mat is a II 

kn ow. 

What business are you 'in? A I am a carpet layer. 

A carp-et layer A ye; sir. 

n.d what firindoyou work for? A A or Rau h & Hess 

TvIR_. TOWNSEND: Ph e Pe op le re st. 

001.EmAN: I ask ycurHonor toadvisethe 

Jury t o acquit on the ground that there i not suf—

fi ci en t est imony in thi. c 
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THE DEPENOV. 

WARD JOINSON, a witnss called. on beha.lfort 0 

Defense being duly sworn, testIfied as follows' 

Dire ]?xaTnination 

riEl COLEMAN 

Last July where were you living? A- At 225 West 27th. 

street. 

Q And with whom had. you :been living. there? A Mrs Pear 

Dehoney, and her husband. 

Q You mean the defendant at the. bar? A. Yes sir  

Do you recollect the time that she was arrested? 

A Yes sir.: 

Q Were you living there then? A Yes, sir, I was. 

Q When did you learn.tha..t she was arrested. A It was on a 

Tuesday — on a Sunday o the let me see..- It 

was about a week aftervtards. Yes, about a week after her 

her husband had went away from town. 

Well, you heard that she was arrested? A Yes, sir. 

Now, after you heard that she was arrested, did you see her 

then -afterwards? A 'Yes s 

Q Mere did you see her? A At her house. 

Did you have a conversation with her? A Yes, S r; I 

What did she tell.you? 

MR TOwNSEND: Objected to. 
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ThT COURT Objection sustained. 

B MR. COLEMAN: 

Now, did. you learn from her or any other person when she 

had been arrested., the day of the month? A It was on 

he 29th of July, if I am not mistaken. 

Q That she was arrested? A Yes, sir. 

now, did. you learn at any time afterwards when it was that 

she was accused of, stealing this money A I don't under-

stand you, sir. 

Q Did you learn - after you had learned that Pearl Dehoney 

was arrested, did. you learn from any person the time when 

this man said that he lost his money, .how long a time it 

was before she was arrested.? A It was from the 22d of 

July until the 29th. 

Well now, what night was she 'arrested on; what night of 

the week? A' On Saturday night, sir. 

Now, how long a time was it between that time that she was 

accused of taking this money? A A week previous to 

that. 

What night was it Ofl A On a Saturday night. 

Q Now, do you know where she was on that Saturday night? 

A Yes r I do . 

Where' At home sick in bed, she was. 

At what. number? 225 West 27,th. street. 

1005 V, 



Is that her home? A yes, sir. 

Was that her home then? A Yes, sir. 

MR. COLEM,A/ I suppose, Colonel you will concede the 

fact that she stated. there, in the papers, that 

she lived. at 225 West 27th street? 

MR. TOWNSEND I will_concede that she stated. that 

fact, Or that :alleged. fact. 

COLEMAN': 

When did you see her on the  night of the 22d? A When I 

got home about half past 0, from work, she was lying it 

the bed. and I asked her 

MR TOWNSEND Obj ect ed to. 

TIM COURT: Objection sustained. 

BY MR COLMAN: 

Q And. what was the matter with her? A She told me she had 

neuralgia of the face. 

Q Did. her face have the appearance of anything unusual? 

A .1 dont t understand. you, 

Did her face have the appearance or being anything unusual 

A Yes sir; her face was swollen, on.her face here, 

and on the side or her neck (indicating). 

After you went home that night did: you go out at all? 

A No, sir; I did not. 

Did you stay in all night? 



„ u•••Pr,... 

Well wha.,t time did you go to bed.? AI <lidnt'go to bed 

at all that night. I stayed up and went to market on 

Sunday morning 

Why did you stay up? A She asked me would. I stay up 

with her, and. I told her Why yes, as I d,idn t have to go 

o. work on Sunday night . 

lifilho was in there with you? A A friend. of Mine rooms 

with me by tile name of Washington.. 

Q Was he there too Yes,sir;  he was there When I 

came in. 

Q Now, the .night that she was sick did you learn afterwards 

it was Saturday night; was it not? A Yes sir. 

Q And, was she sick before that. night? A Yes, r; three 

days before that she complained of a toothache,or 'some-

thing of that kind... 

And was the complaint before that time? A Yes', sir. 

Now, then alio ou. positively certain that she did not go 
out of that house all night- Saturday night? A Y 

Al],that night of July 2nd? Yost r; 

You are? A Yes, sir 

Could she go out without.your knowing it? 

MR. TOWNSEND: Objected to. 

THE COURT: 

A Well no, sir, she could not,because I was in her 



room all thetime until about half past 6 or 7 o n 

Sunday morning. 

MR. COLEMAN 

And. she was suffering all the time? A Yes air. 
gCoss Examination 

MR. TOWNSEND: 

What do you do for a living I am a piano player, 

professor, a professional piano player. 

Do you work anywhere- n.ow9 A No, sir; not at the pres-

ent time. 

When was it that you last worked? A I can't exactly 

remember now, but I was between 41st and 40th stree 

Seventh avenue at the club up there. 

When was that? A That was last July. I worked for 

them up there I worked about a month and a half, I guess 

until near September, as near as I can remember. 

Doing what? A Playing the piano .there.. 

Q What club was it Sir? 

What club was it They called it the It Turf xcflange. 

That was last *September you left there? A Yes sir . 

And you have not done anything since? A Yes, sir; 

have. 

Wh.ere? A I have wOrked, down at 118 31st street. 

When did you go .there to work? A About a month and. a 
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half ago, I guess. I worked there about a month and. then 

it shut down. 

Then it closed up? A Yes, 2. 

Q And have you been doing anything else since then? Yes, 

sir, I played the piano on 37th street and Seventh avenue, 

at Mr. Todd's if I am not mistaken. He runs the place 

here, I think. 

What is the number? A I don t exactly know the number. 

It is 37th street and Seventh° avenue. There is a colored 

club upstairs there. 

Now, how long had you been living In this house in jul 

How long had. I been living at 225? 

Yes. A Oh, I had been  living there about — as near as 

-I can remember about a month and, a half or two months. 

As near as you  can rememberabout a -month and a half or 

two months? A Yes, sir. 

When did you go there to live?. A Well, It must have 

been in 

No. I don't want what must have been, but want to know 

what it was. 

About in May 

Well about May; some time in May. 

Well it was in May. 

Well what part of May was it? A Ido 't exactly know. 

Along about the 7th. or 8th Of May I went there. 

You went there? A Yes, r; to live. 
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Are. your.barried? A No,sir. 

'Weil,'. when did_ you leaVe.. there? A Why, 1, left there 

when they left there. They Moved and I moved.. 

Who. moved.? A Miss Pearl Dehoney there.. 

Well when Was that? A That was as near as I. can re—

member 

Well, isn' t your memory good.? A 1 sir; not exactly; 

not about 'moving around. that way. 

Now, let us see viten you left there.H W1atuontiiwas•it? 

A Well, it was near cold weather when. we left there. 

It that the best you can say about it, that it was near 

cold Weather? A Yes, sir. 

Well, was that September, or October, or November, or Deoem-1 

r? A I guess i.t was about in September. 

You think it was about September? A -Yes, sir  

.Q AX1d Where did . you go to .live then? • A We moved up On 

1 Seventh avenue and 32d street on the corner. 

And are you 'living there now? A No, 
them 

Well, When ad you leave there? • .A. Well, I left there. 

- moved. up to 496 Seventh avenue. 

496 Seventh. avenue? •A. Yes, sir,. 

Did. you know this defendant before you went to live there? 

A Yes, sir 

How .long had. you known her? A Oh I been knowing her 



Tate a while; about three or four years; somethin like 

that  

, Q Three or four years? A Yes, sir. 

Q Well had. you ever lived in a house where she lived before? 

A No, sir. ± moved into her house when r.moved in 

here, in her flat.; yes.. 

Q Where -did you get acquainted with he Ohida.go. 

In Chicago? A Yes, sir. 

Well, where were you living in 0h ago? A 1 -was living. 

n 459 Dearborn street, and I lived at 216 21st street. 

Oh, have lived almost all over Chicago.. 

Well, when did you. leave Chicago h; I -left Chicago 

last .1.4arch am not mistaken. No let .me see. 

left Chicago, I think it was in April.; 

You don t know .when' A No, sir,• I an remember. 

And do you know when you got here? 

three days after I left Chica.go. 

I gOt here two or 

And when. was that  April; or May? A I don t remembeil. 

You can't tell -vrhether it was April or May? A No, sir . 

Your meinory is not at all- good about dates; s it? 

sir. 

Well, where did you leave your friend, when you left Chi-

cago?' 

MR. COLMAN; - Ob e c t ed to as immat eri:al levant • 
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and. Incompetent. 

TH COU1I1 Allowed. 

MR. .COLEMAN: Exception. 

BY MR. TOWNSEND: 

Where was your friend the defendant here when you left 

Chicago? A She was in NeW York here. 

She was in New York? A Yes, sir. 

Q Well, do you know when she left Chicago sir; 

do no 

Do you know what she did in Chicago?. A No, sir; 

o not. She lived. out south with her sister. 

In the southern part of Chicago? 

Well, -what did she do for a living here in New York; do. 

you know? A Well, she lived at home with her husband. 

That is all I know. 

What?: A Well, she lived.. at home with her husband; that 

is all I know. 

She lived. With her husband.? A Yes, sir. I had a 

room in the house there. 

- And. what is her husband's name., . A His name Is Mr. 

Dehoney. 

Mr. Dehoney? 

*Well 

S, 

you say it was the 22d. of July that she was home and. 

bed? A Yes, sir. 



Q 'What? AeS, sir. 

Well how about the 21st of July Sir? 

Q How about- the 21st Of Jul Where was .she? A She was 

home ,sick, as I stated before. 

Well the 23d of July, the dal after the 22d, where was she?, 

She was homb. 

She was home? A Yes, 

The 24th of July,'where was she? A She was home. 

Q And the 25th of July? A. She. w.as home. 

Now, I mean speaking of the night time. A Well yes, 

the night time. What I Mean sometimes I would. come from 

•woTk a little earlier, and. sometimes I would, come from. work 

a little late. It dep_ended. on how' long I would have to 

wait at my work.. 

Now, on the 28th- of July where was she? A She was a 

home., 

Q Home all the evening? A Yes, sir, she was home' all 

he evening. I left her home when I went to work 

What time did. you go away? A I went away about 7. 

o'clock, .as near as I can remember . 

You went away about 7 clock? A Yes, .s 

From ho e? A Yes; 

And you got back about what time? A Back home from 

work? 
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Q •Yes. h I came in about 12 6 clock,  I guess as near 

as I can remeMbe:r. 

Q Now, didn t you come in later than 12 sometimes? A Nq,.. 

r; not usual. Sometimes I would come in at half past 

1 or 12 and. sometimes a little later than that: 

And sometimes 1 or 2 o clock? A No.: -Well yes; some—

times 1 o'clock or a little later,. 

Q Now,  on the night of the 22d. of July did.- you play anywhere? 

A Yes, sir. 

And what time did. you leave .yoUr work that night? 

eft there about half past 10 o'clock  

And. Where did you go9 A I went home. 

But where did. you leave? A I left the "Turf Ex-

change.. 

And. what time did. you leave to play there; what time did 

you go out to play there that night? A Yes, sir. 

Q What time did. you leave .home. A I didn't play there a 

all that night. That is I played .a .few pieces, and, then 

people came :in and it ,Was kind, of dull that night, and, I• 

had got an order to close down the piano,and I couldn't 

• 
Play regular,and I had to play the piano kind. of soft.. 

They came around: and. gave orders not to Play the piano loud 

because there .was a lady sick next door. 

Yes. .And. so you played the piano soft that night? 



Yes, Sir. And. I think it .was about 8 o clock a 

they came in and told: me to stayaround there, and. if any-

body came in I .should play the piano a little form them, 

and I stayed there until about half past 10, and. I went out 

and went home. 

ow, where did you sleep? A I slept in the second room. 

And. what floor 

The third. floor? 

A The third floor. 

A Yes, 

And there were how. many TOOMS that. they Occupied? Fo 

rooms. 

And. your room was where? The front or rear? A My 

room Is the second :from the front; 

.And what room did. they occupy? .A The front room.' 

The front toom. A Yes, sir . 

Q 1ow, you could get into your room without • going into, their 

rogral couldn't .you. A Yes sir, I could. But most 

generally *I used to go through their room on accoUnt_ of 

ha.ving, to get into Our room through the kitchen. And, hgir • 

bed, was cattycornered, and., after the bed was let down by 

her, it Was kind, of difficult to go4 through that way, 

she' had, to come in through our room to let me in. by the 

kitchen, and so I always came in by the front room:. The 

rooms is built right in a.row. 

So you recollect that you saw her that night-, the 22d? 
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• k Yes, sir 

And. you saw her at home every night that week? 

sir. 

She was at home every night that week? A Yes, 

Well how about one night? One night she didn't come home? 

.A No, sir. That was Saturday night. She didn t come 

home. 

Well what -day of the week was it? A That was the 29th, 

if I ain't mistaken. 

And the 29th was Satur4ay? A Yes, sir. 

And. she clicln t come home that night? A No, sir 

Q Well did. you see  her go out that night? A No, sir 

'was not there when she went out. 

Q YoU were not there when she went out? A No,sir  

Had she been in bed. the night before? A No, sir; she 

was not in bed the  night before bUt she had a poultice on 

her face. She had her head all tied up. 

She had. her 'head all tied. up Yes 

Are you still living at that house? A No, sir  
• 

And you don't know when you left .there? A No, sir; 

not exactly. I didn't keep no account of moving.. 

Well, we will take the week before that. She was home on 

he 2th. 'What clay would the Week before that be what day 

of the month would that be. A Sir 

' AG' 
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What day of the week would a week before  they 22d b 

• week before. 

Yes. A It Would be seven days less. 

, Q • Well what would that be9 A Well I am not a pretty 

good Counter. 

You are not much on counting? A No, sir. 

And yet you: are sure. Of these two days*, on the 22d. and. 29th? 

A Yes sir, I am. sure. 

But the Saturday before you can't tell what day of the 

month that was? A Why I could sount it and, tell you.. 

You: 'could? A Yes r 

Well count it A Saturday would be the. 22nd., and Fri-

day would be the 21st, and Thursday -woUld be the 20th, an 

Wednesday would be the 19th and Tuesday would be the 18th:, 

and. Monday would be the 17th and Sunday would. be the .18th ..-

Yes. And. Saturday would be what day A Sir? • 

.Q 

And. Saturday? A .Saturday would_ be the'l th... 

The 15th? A Yes.„.sir 

Now, we have got it down. Was she home that night? 

She was home when I went home, yes I was Working, 

and I got home about 12- o'clock,and, she was home an 

ed-, 

Well, was her husband. a I think home? A Yes, sir,

he was -not at home. 

••••••• 

MIRE1 

NP 



Q He vias not at home on theiiight of the 15t1? A_ S T; 

Well how was it on the night of the 22d? A He was not 

at home. 

He was not at home that night either? A No, sir . 

And you don't know what time he came In that night? 

A He didn't come in at all. 

did.n t come in at all? A 0, sir. 

Q He -often stayed out nights all night? A why, he worked, 

down at coney Island. 

Q He was away,waiting at Coney Island? A Yes, sir. 

And was he away as a regular thing, right through July? 

Yes sir; he was away almost throughout the summer, 

at times. 

B THE COT.TRT: 

You stated that this defendant s husband had gone away the 

week before •*. What week did he go away? A Sir? 

Q You said, a little while ago, in answer to Captain Coleman Si. 

estion, that the husband had gone away tile Week before. 

Yes, Sir. 

What week did  he go away? A The week before that. 

Before what. The week before her arrest? A 011, he 

d been away about two or tInee ,weeks.. He Would -come 

home .soMetiMeS. He would come home one night of, a week, 

or Something like that; and; go bapk,dowil to the Island again1 



And. was • that the week bef.ore she was arrested that he went 

away Yes, sir. And he would. come back home a 

night, and:. go away again. 

Q Where is he now? A I don't know, :sir. I haven't seen 

'him lately. 

Q You have not seen him lately? A No, sir. 

Well, did. you live out in Chicago' 'with this lady,- at the

place that she lived? A No, sir; I .did not. 

How- long before you came to New York ,did she come .to New 

York? A. Well don't know, sir. 

AMERICUS P WASHIN GTO N, awltnesscalled. 

on behalf of the Defense being duly sworn, testlfled as 

follows: 

Direct Examination. 

BY Mil. COTallyiA 

Where were you living last JUly, Washington? A I Was 

living at 225 West With street'. 

With whom. A At the lady's house, Pearl DehoneY• 

Do you remember the time she was arrested' A Yes, sir 

Did you learn on what night she wa_s rrested? A Yes, six 

at night was it.? •On• Saturday tight. 

Now, did. you learn afterwards what night the complainant 

stated that he lost his money, and accused her? A Yes 
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What night was it? Saturday night. 

And .how long before she was arrested.? A A ,'week . • 

Do you know where she was then?. sir. 

Q. •.The night that the largeny'was _conmitted? A. Yes, 

lirhere?:. At Mine. 

...Did. you ,see her in her room? A:: -Yes, sir. 

. Q. Where was that?. A That was. at 225 West ..27th Street, 

Was there •anything n what condition was she, .when. you 

Saw she .Was at home that Saturday night?. MI6 was  

.sick -With,Jthe.neura;zia,,.. 

Do you know'-whethez....4..p. went out that hat...SatUr•:••• 

daY night? 

What did you say? 

- I know up to until about 1 o clock. 

I know up •until about 1 ,o clock. 

You saw her up to 1 o clock? A Yes sir. 

You were living there then; were you? A Yes, sir 

How long the evening before did you see her that even-

, i g on the same. evening? AY s, sir, about 8 o clock, 

I came home. 

Yes; about 8 o'clock you came .home? A Yes sir. 

Was she in the house all that night? A he was up to 

o'clock. 

And. then -went to bed? A Yes, sir., 

And. you can t say -what occurred after that? A No sir. 

Now, did you look •bo see what day of the month i was that ' 



.she•was arrested on? A Yes, sir; *I d.id 

What  did. you 'look at? A At the calendar. 

Did, you make inquiries of what day of the month it was that 

the accusation of the larceny was made? A Yes sir. 

d -What day of the month was it? The 22d. 

And -what day of the week was .it? A Saturday. 

And that is the same Saturday night that she Was at home? 

A Yes 

Cross xamination 

Th lat.. TOWNSEND: 

And what is your business? A I am a tile— aver b7 tra.d 

Q A tile layer? A Yes,•sir. 

And do you work at your trade? A Yes, sir. 

Q And.when did you last work at it? 

1 

I couldn't work at 

ri3r trade for about a year and two months. I am working a 

43 East 29th street, the last work I did. 

The last Work that you did? A Yes, s 

When was that? A That was last suimner  

What part of the summer? A Well 11 the aumMer, up to 

until August. I went down to a slimmer resort. 

On the first of August where did you go? A TO .the 

summer resort. 

What suimner resort did. you go to Asbury Park. 

You went down on the first of August. A Yes, sir. 



What day of the week was that? A That was on. Tuesda 

.believe; Tuesday or Wednesday 

What room d.id you occupy, and on what floor in that house? 

Two flights Up, the inside room next to the front 

itOom. 

Did you, hire from this woman A Yes1 Sir. 

What room did this other man who just testified, occupy 

A He.had. the room with me. 

Q What? A He had., the room with me. We were rooming to-

gether  - 

Whit time .did you go up hat night, the 2241 of ultr 

About 8 clock,. 

Did you stay there all the evening? A. Istayed. there 

Until —yes, I went to bed about 1 o'clock 

CI You went to bed about 1 o clocjr,. A About 1 o 

And 'what time did. this other man Come in. A This other: 

man came in .about 9 o clock I think. 

About 9 A Yes,sir. 

Are you mire about that?. A. Yes, sir,'about 9 0 clock.; 

somewhereb between 9 and. 10, or a little afters 9, *I guess: 

Q What? A A little after clock, I guess. 

And whatwere you doing when he came in, A I vas sitting 

talking to the lady, and I was just after fixing her some 

' hot salt to put on liso face. 



What did you .do after. that? A I sot there .Me and, him. 

After he came in you mean? 

es A Well, after he game, we played cards a While. 

You played cards? A Yes,sir. 

Was her husband there that night? A No sir. 

Where was he? A He was down at Coney Island. 

Coney Island? A Yes, sir. 

Q What 'board did you pay? A My board? I didni t board. 

there,. I only roomed there. 

How *Lich did you pay there for your room? A I paid. a 

.dollar and. a quarter for my part .of the -room. 

Well, the 29th. Were you there the night  of the 29th? 

A The night of the 29th? 

Q Yes. A Yes, sir 

What time. did tile other limn come in that night' A On the 

29th? 

Yes: A I disremember what time he came in that ,night;: 

because I think he worked that night, 

What, time did. the lady come in? A Well, the lady was 

there when I got there. I dian t get there myself until 

about 10 o clock I believe.. 

,Al2put 10? A Yes, sir. 

And.. the lady was there' when you got there? A Yes, 

1, What? A Yes, sir. I think she was, if I am not mis7 



taken.. Yes, she was. 

She was there? 

You are positive about tI'iat' A No, Sir. I won't be 

positive, I think she was on the 29th. 

Q You think she was? A Yes,  sir. 

Q. What was she doing when you got there? A on the 29th?, 

Q Yes. A I won't be sure about that' I don't know 

whethermhe was there at that time or not.. I know I did. 

not get there Until about 10 o'clock myself. 

You didn't get there until about 1 'clock? A No,. sir. 

Now, see if Yoa can recollect if she was there and what she 

was doing at the time? A On the 29th? 

Q Yes. A She was not there when I got there.. That i 

right It was the cook there: She was not there at all. 

Q What time did. She get there? 'What time didshe get 

there on the 29th? 

Q.Yes.A I didn't see her until about Tuesday or Monday, 

I believe it was. 

What time- did she get there on the 28th? A On the 28th? 

Yes. disremember. 

The .day'before? disremember what time she got there. 

Well there was nothing that 1 can, see that have to re—

member that she was there what time on, the 28th beqause 

am so uncertain about coming ln that_I donit:t know my own 

falai 
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. hours. 

Who has talked with you about this case? A No one has . . 

talked.. with me concerning this cases only 

-.:1111hen did you first learn -of her arrest?  A I first 

learned of her arrest Qh a Sunday morning. 

From whom9 A .Vrolti- my friend 'who Just went out, 

How did he learn of it; do you know? A He says lie got 

a message. 

A message from whom? A From the lady  

And when did you know that you were going to testify? 

-After she was out on bail. 

When was it that you were told that you were to testify 

I was told that I was to testify about a, week after 

I came back from the summer resorts. 

And when was that. A That was .in August. 

How long were you down at the summer resort? A I was 

down there abotit .five days the first time and. then I came 

babk. 

Q And. how long did. you stay here, when you got back? Ho 

long did I stay h.ere.. 

Q Yes. A I stayed here then &week. 

And.. then what did you do? A I went back., 

And. what did you. do there? Did. You stay down there? 

Yes, air. 

010,6iT1 , 



HOW long did you stay. there? 

And then what did you do? 

Two weeks. 

A And I came back. 

And. you have not done anything since;. have 'you? A Yes.,. 

sir. I have did. something since.. 

L:Q At what? A At .the waiter. -trade. 

Where?. Where? A Up on I forget the number t • 

t is on 42d: street 

/hose. place is it? A Mr Banks 's place, 

When .did you leave there? A I.left there about five' 

weeks ago., 

And have not done any work Since then? 

And how do you live? How do you pay yourbo.ard? 

save my money, what I work for. 

You save all year money' A What I don't spend. I save 

:enough money to live, when I ain't working. 

NOW, you don't know anything more about the 22d:than any. 

other night, do you?. Nothing happened on that night to 

make an impression  On -you' Yes, sir. 

Q What did' A Well, she was sick, very sick 

And. she was sick the night before; wasn't she' A Yes, 

sir 

And the night before that?. A Yes sir. 

And sick the night before that' A Oh, I don't reMegber 

whether she was sick the night- before that or not. I know 



that she was sick two or three nights before that. 

Well, couldn't it have been a week. before, just as Well as 

the 22d? A Well, I don't know, sir, what it could. 1aVO 

been. 

Q Why was it the 22d? What impressed you that it was the 

22d.? A -What impressed me was the fact that 

Yes. A When she got arrested 

Yes. A She came home after she got out, and was telling 

us • about her own arrest or something. 

And when did she get out  A She got out on Monday or 

Tu.esday. 

Of August, or July, when? A Of July. 

:Monday or Tuesday? 

And s1ie was telling you? A Yes, 

.And when did you go down to work? A When did I go down 

o work?' 

Yes. A At the summer resort? 

Yes. A I wept down to the summer resort on Wednesday, 

or ,:-SpMe time that  week 

Some tiro.° that week A About that time. 

ell; you said it was on the List of August. 

that. was near the first of 'August. 

And you went down on What day of the Week? A On Wednes-

day or Thursday. It ws.s about the first of August, anyway 
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Well when did she get out of jail, .on what day? 

believe it was lionda.y. or TuesdaY. I.ain t sure.. 

A. 

Q. Do you know what day she came back from prison to that flat 

I think it was Tuesday. 

Q Do you know positively' A Well, I disremember positive. 

You say it was Tuesday' I think :it was Tuesday  

Q Now, am You as sure about that as yoU- are about that it 'wa 

the 22d. that she was there at home? A About that date? 

Yes A No, sir. 

You are not sure about it? A It was Saturday, the 22d.. 

*Well are you sure that the day she came back from jail was 

Tuesday' A No, sir, I disremember that. 

Q Well hat was quite an important time; was it not? 

A . Not tome  

Well Was it not just as important as the fact of her ha 

ing been sick'. A No, sir; I didn't have anything to 

do with her., that day. I didn't have to wait on her'. 

It didn t make any impression on you sir; Only 

I mowed. She was out, and she was -telling us about being 

arrested. 

BY THE COURT: 

Now, you were in the police court, on the next morning after 

her arrest; were yo not. 

Were you there on Monday lamming? A No, sir. 



When were you there? was not n•the police cadrt. 

at al 

In 57th street? A No, sir  

How long do you know this defendant? I know her aboU 

a little over a year. 

Where? In Chicago? A No, r, here. 

You never met her in. Chicago I only Met her there, 

but I never  was acquainted with her there. I had seen, 

her there a couple of times. 

Oh, you were acquainted with her -- you had met her, but 

werenot acquainted with her? A 1To, sir,i not person-

ally acquainted with her. 

. Q When  did you- see the defendant s husband last?_ 

before .yesterday 

Day _before yesterday? A Yes, sir. 

e-fl.irec.E.icarninätio.n 

MR U OLEMAN: 

Now, when you speak of the 29th, that she came home about 

Tuesday; was your - attention Callad to the time of the ar-

rest,that it was on Saturday night?' A Yes-, sir. 

And. did you look at anything to find..What .day of the month. 

Saturday. night was? A Yes, sir, that is the way I 

remember the 2..2d. 

Well, did you learn then that it was a week before this. 

A 

• 

141 
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Yes, sir. 

Of a Saturday night, that the accusation was made? 

Yes, *sir. 

Anil is that why you remember? A tes,sir; that is w 

remember. 

And then you charged your memory with that fact? 

sir; with that night, because she asked me she tad m 

"You remember I were home that night sick?" and I said.; 

"Yes. That Is the night I was fixing hot salt bags for 

oUr facer; 

BY  THE FOttalvIA 

Did. you ever know this woman to have been out 'of her- house 

after 12. o'clock at night on any other nights? She. was 

arrested about half .past 12 I think. Was she in the 

habit of being out of her house at that hour frequentl 

sir; • not to my knowledge. The only time• I. 

seen her away was about half past 10 or 11 o clock. 

THE OOUE 

Now, is it not a fact tha you stated, a few minutes ago, 

that you sometimes left the house at 7 o aock; and did. no 

return until late? sir;.I .didn t say so.. 

Well,when, did you leave the house w en you went to work? 

A At .6 o clock, sometimes. 

And. when would. you ;return Well from 9 o'clock , on 



And, you found he  a 

swear to  that'? 

The Defense Tests. 



TI-IE COURT S CHARGE. 

THE COURT: 

'Gentlemen of the jury  At the outset,- I de.,-

sire to say to you that I 1.?eKret that the ,counsel 

for the defense in his enthUsiasm for his 'client 

should have permitted his feelings to run away wit 

him so far as to attempt to insinuate that this 

Court had taken advantage of an infirmity of his. 

No one at the bar knows better .than he that at nO 

time in my experience, either at the bar or on th 

bench have I. ever attempted to take an advantage 

of the.. Infirmities o -P a fellow man. What prompt 

him to make the remark, or why he should have at-

tempted. to parade before this jury his work for 

the nation, ,in time of war, Is for you to deter;--

mine, and. you can best determine; .after you have 

.considered all the *circumstances in connection wit 

-this case. 

This ls a very simple case.. The defendant 

at the bar is charged with grand larceny in the 

first degree; that is, the .stealing 'of property 

from the person of another, in the night time. It 

S iatz,ial, so far as this cha.rge ls concerned. 

• 
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as to the amount of money taken. 

If you believe, gentlemen of the jury., that 

this defendant, on the night in question, the 22d. 

of July, 1899, too1 from the Person of this com—

plainant the money in question, and. it is inmate—

rial as to the amount, .your verdict ought to be 

guilty of . grand. larceny in the first degree. 

If, however, you believe that the complainant 

was mistaken, in his identification of this defend 

ant,your verdict ought to be that of not gUiltV. 

if there be a reasonable doubt in the ea 

arising on the evidence your verdict ought to be. 

not guilty. 

But, in determining whether or not this de—

fendant was the person that stole tile money from 

the.-coMpla.inant you ought to consider her ect 

.duct at the time the  charge was made against heT 

by thiS complainant, for the law of this State. 

thet 'flight is .evidence of guilt .unless such 

light as properly explained, and. if you, believe 

that, at• the time Of her arrest and at the time 

- the charge was made by this complainant and.. his. 

friend. against her, She attempted to flee and. d 

mp upon a ear and. managed. to' get away a distsne 



of ",....P.iVe.or six blocks, you have a right. to con-

Sider that CircUMStance.. n determining the .ques-

tion as to her guilt or  innocence; and, as, I. said 

o you at the outset, , f you beli.eVe that the 13 

the person who took from the Person of ,the coin-

plainant the money in question, your verdict ought 

o be guilty. as charged. in. the indictment 

The defendant; has .failed to take the stand.. 

Under" Our law, formerly, a defendant could • not 

testify In  :his or her .own. behalf Bu.t the •Legis 

1 ture. of 'Our State in Its :wisdom -finally .adop-

ted a la* that every Person' charged with crime . -,has 

the right to .t ettifij. in :his or her own 'behalf, but 

.providing . also that a failure to testify must..rot 

weigh against hit or her in the consideration of 

the. case In other words, the prosecution Must. 

, make out ,their case beyond. a .reasonable doubt; 

and, if you: believe that the prosecution in this 

case have made out their.,Case,beyond a reasonable 

doubt, Your verdict ougIit to be guilty • as charged 

In the .indictmen, . 

I want to impress upon Your minds, gentlemen, 

.as I haNie tried to impress ,upon the minds - of .every 

Jury dUring this • term, ,that however we  may find 

Suit with::.tIlb •ii0111.11.1ttt of Men naybe 
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MR. Comm 
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• repugnant to our nature or disposition, to have 

men of our own color found in the company of per—

son M this defendant color, you have nothing. 

at all to do with that; or with the morals of the 

case. 

If the testimony of the complainant be true; 

that he was upon the streets of the City Of New. 

York upon our highway, a place that he had. a per 

-feet. right to be, and. where he Was entitled to h 

full protection oI the law,and that 'this defend—

ant deliberately took this money from his person, 

on tile street, although it may have been at a 'late 

hour, and. you should. consider in this connection 

that it was in the month of Jily, in the latter, 

part oi July', when people are apt to be up late; 

if this man was upon the public street,where he 

had a right to be and, this defendant took from 

his .person the money In question, your ye...4ot 
• 

.ought •.tp be:. guilty as charged -in the indictment. 

Any requests or exceptions? 

sir7 I. take an exception to that 

'Tart of your charge where you state that the law 

of this State Is that a person running away is evi 

dence of gult You  will pardon me fo... stating 

-that it  1:i'person :run 79-Vir—dY 



a circumstance and not evidence of gUilt. 

THE COURX: I will take your stgtement of it, and, charge 

as you request. 

MR. COLEIviAN: And. I a.sk your Honor to charge the .jury 

that the jury must he satisfied beyond. a reason-

able doubt, that the complainant had the money in 

his pocket at the time that he met the woman at 

13th street and. Third avenue. 

THE COURT: Certainly I so charge. 

ItM COLEMAN: And that he had the money when he left 

hi8 house. 

THE COURT : Yes. I so 'charge. 

mR. 00LEiviAl And. when ,he was going down Third. avenue 

18th street. 

TIM COURT Yes, I so charge: 

MR. cOLEMAN: And I also ask your, HOMPr.. to charge that-. 

the circumstance of the complainant not calling a -

policeman is a circumstance against him. 

THE COURT : No r; I decline to so charge, 

gR. COLEMAN: Did. your Honor 'charge reasonable doubt? 

TM. COUPtT Yes, I did charge that. 

jury found the defendant guilty of grand.. larcen 

in the first. degree.) 

IVR.•COLEMAN : I would like to have the jury poiled. 

jury -1s •poTIert- by. the clerk. 



New York March 22, 1900,. 

The Defendant be ing arraigned for sentence: 

RM. COLEMAN: If your Honor please., for the purpose of 

protecting the interests of my client, will make 

the ordinary motion. 

move for a new trial, on the ground that the 

verdict was against the weight of evidence . 

Secondly Thatthe evidence in the case was 

insufficient. 

Third That the verdict was against the law 

and the evidence in the case. 

suppose that will cover at will take 

ruling on that. 

HE COURT: Motion denied. 

COLEMAN: Exception. And now I move in arrest of 

judgment,on the ground the.t the indictment does 

not set forth facts sufficient to .constitute - a crime 

HE COURT:Motion denied. 

MR. COLEMAN: Excebt ion. Now I want to say,-. n regard to 

this case, if your Honor please, I noticed this 

'morning My attention was called to it coming down 

in the car some matters in the paper that were to 

me a great surprise, in some waya I notice m 
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daughter's name .was mentioned in connection with the 

case I don't know how it got to be mentioned any 

more than she did in the premises merely what she did 

as an act of charity and ordinary mercy. 

want to say in that regard, if your Honor 

please, that while the prisoner at the. bar stands 

accused of many crimes,and now I know all about her 

career and I did at the time of the trial t least 

I think I did. I may riot,but that is my impression 

and, while I recognize the fact that she has been a 

criminal yet in at conversation I had with her, at one 

when she thought she would regain her liberty, 

she made remarks to me, which impressed me very favor-

ably at the t ime , and I thought she was sincere. 

I know that what I am about to say may'have 

little or perhaps no effect,yet no harm can come 

saying what I am gOing to say, but nothing gained, . 

nothing lost. 

She told me that there was nothing in this life 

for her, and when she said this life, she meant the 

lite she was following, and that,if she got out of 

n the day she expected to be discharged,that 

she would leave this "city, in half an hour, and go 

back to her own home and lead a different life. 
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know that there are many people who believe 

it is utterly 'impossible for a person who has led a 

criminal life ever to reform but •after all in m 

long years' experience at the .bar, I can point to 

many instances in this city, •-day, of men moving 

in good society, bringing up good families,and also 

women who have led criminal lives, and bad ones too, 

and reformed, andmade good citizens afterwards. 

What I am going tosay., I don't want the Court, 

or any other person to infer that I mean anything 

harsh against any person, God forbid, but my exper-

ience is this,that sometimes when an opportunity i 

given to a person to do better, that,having seen 

the evils of their ways in the past,and knowing 

that everything is at it high cost and unfortunately 

for those people they are not living at times for 

themselves but for others who want to do better. 

Men in our business can't say what they know. The 

'seal o secrecy s upon our lips* and we are placed 

in such .a position that vie can never tell, even upon. 

our own death beds,but we do know that these people 

are sometimes preyed upon more than they prey upon 

'others. 

Now, all that I ask as and My _daughter went 
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your Honor„ about the matter. She left my office wit 

tears in her eyes without my request but I couldn't 

see any harm in it3 but I don't want her name men-

tioned in any connection with it. Whoever gave i 

away I don't know. 

Now, I would state this, that long sentences, as 

a' rule never accomplish anything. I think your 

Honor will differ with,m . We both have a right to 

differ with each other, and especially when we are 

. both honest about it, as. long as we  are both hones 

about the matter, no harm can come But I will 

state this, that many times have I felt for criminals 

before the bar, many a time I have succeeded in sav-

ing people for whom they thought there ,was no re-

demption, and -I have the pleasure of knowing to:-day 

that those very people that nobody thought could be 

saved were saved and have led better lives. I think 

this about this woman now and I judge, and I form my 

. opinion from -sate:merits .ahe made 
• • . • 

me in the Tombs, 

not as the results of this trial because Is know and 

re-alize the fact that people who are convicted are 

illing to promise anything for the purpose of get-

-ting out of . I have had no remarks like that 

from her sinde I haven t even said a word to her 
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about the matter since, but the conversation todk 

place between ourselves when she thought that she. . 

would regain her liberty. 

Now, I will appeal to the Court not to be as 

severe in this matter as many thinks you will be. 

Of course, they have no right to think, and they have 

no. right to pay because I know no other Person 

living has got your opinion on the subject. But 

there is one thing I will say as a matter of justice 

o others. 

There are two ments names mentioned in connec-

tion with this case in this morning papers, and I 

know what .they done in the premdses. They are both 

present. - But what the third one done I don't know,. 

except seeing it in the papers but if I was on my-

dying bed these men would say that both of 

these men acted honest and consistent .and perfectly 

truthful, and everything and I refer to Col. Townsend 

and M. Blake I think that  in that regard, they 

may have made a mistake but, if they made it, it was 

an honest mistake, and I was sorry to see any re-

flection case upon their character this =ming, and 

I didn't know what Ur.* Carr had done in the case until 

saw his name in the paper the other morning, and I 
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haven't said a word o him but I know that Col. 

Townsend has spent several -days in examining the 

case, after he was -instructed by your Honor as I 

believe, and I am sorry that those men were mentioned 

n the papers in that connection. 

am pretty severe sometimes to criticise, and 

your. Honor knows that, but at the same time I am 

always willing to take the part of others, expecially 

when I think they have been wronged 

Now, enough of that : I will take no further 

In consequence of what appeared in the papers 

this morning  my daughter wants to make some expla-

nation about that . .What it is ',ant know, in that 

regard,but I am very sorry that her name  should be• 

mentioned in connection with it It does seem to. 

and I will say; this about it, if she appeared 

here .as an act of charity and of mercy, for the 

purpose of gaining some time, having some time taken 

from this woman then I say that any woman or ma 

without charity is actually without a heart, a man 

or woman without chari or a heart and if we 

believe the teachings laid down to us by the•Al-

mig y, charity is at the bottom of all things and 

41" 
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the man iikrithout charity can never go through this 

world and when his latter days come look back 

with satisfaction upon the past. We are all li-

able to sin, every one of us. There are none 

of u pure. We can't be pure. But at the same 

time, charity says to us "What you ask of the God 

n heaven, you grant unto others, if you have an 

opportunity 

Now Judge NewbUrger, I do ask, from the bot-

tom of my heart for this woman, from what I learn 

from her, end I know.all'aboyt her, and I know what. -

her character is. In that regard she is to be 

pitied. 

I know that your Honor can answer me, .very 

effectually, too, but I do ask your Honor, as an. 

act of mercy,not to severely punish this woman  

but give her a chance until she comes down and goes 

back to her own Southern 'home and leads 'a- better 

life. 

You are too Intelligent you will pardon 

me for saying it you are too -intelligent a man 

not to know that the books are • full of cases where 

men- and- woman of the worst kind, when chances 



were given to them relented and became better men 

and women. You have no doubt read the case of 00 -

sett, mentioned by Victor Hugo, and we all know 

that, when the man came from prison .and the matter 

is fiction, of course, though it is founded on 

facts that he reformed, and lead .a good life 

and was benefactor. to the neighbors., and to the 

community, and the *state, and his Country, but 

through the jealous persecution of. Gervette he was 

sent back to the galleys, and all the good that he 



So that, after all, in looking over the pas 

the most pleasant thing that I have seenoften oc-

curs,

: 

right in the midst of the Most terrifying 

turmoil. I have seenmen who engaged in mortal 

combat when one would fall deadly enemies too: 

eager to kill, fighting to kill, Yet charity took 

the place for the time being and the canteen of 

water was held to the dying lips of the poor dying 

rebel soldier or the Union soldier, one by the 

other.' :W could forgive, and each) thou.ght •tb.• 

:other wa6 wrong, and we could forgive in those 

things, and that dhows what charity will do a 

'times when it is most required. 

have nothing more to say, and thank your 

kOnor for your kindness with this exception. 

want to say that this woman got a fair tiial. 

There can be no fault found With that.. The jury. 

were of her own choosing. The 'jury was out for 

some time and as a compliment to that jury I will 

say this that were I to try a case in this court 

-morrow, and to examine the jury, if the same 

twelve men were presented to me, I would accept 

the same twelve men without asking a single ques-

tion of that. 
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recognise the fact that there were elements 

in the case that they could not overcome. And. as 

far as your Honor s charge is .concerned, though we 

had a difference,  It was perfectly fair, and thO 

:took exception to it, you immediately amended it 

and accepted 't on my termsArid I thank you  front 

the bottom of my heart for your kindness In the 

matter, and I cannot thank the jury, because they 

were not of my way of. thinking, but I do thank 

em in the light that they, could not do otherwise; 

and all I have to say is that she got a. fair trial, 

and was fairly convicted,- and '11e recognizes that 

herself. And that is all I have got to saYMy -

daughter wants to speak. 

..MISS COLEMAN Now, your Honor 

THE COURT Now, please do not. I Want to say, at the 

outset; that no one regrets more. than I 0 the 

Publication of your daughter e name in connection 

-with this case and I think : that b6th you and ,YOur 

daughter will 'bear me witness when I say 

COLEMAN' sir. 

THE COURT: That, all- through the case I begged her 

not to appear in this case. 

MR. COLEMAN' Yes, r; that is correct. 
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THE COURT: Through what she believed to be her duty as 

a member of the Bar, and as a good woman, she made 

an appeal in behalf of this defendant. Now it 

came into the newspaper, I do not know. 

MR COLEMAN: .we are satisfied of that, your Honor. 

. THE COURT Now, let the defendant stand. I desire to 

say here. that the only instruction that I gave in 

this .case was When I sat ill Part 

cation was made to me' 

when, the aPPli-

o dis-

charge this defendant uPon her own recognizance, 

and. that was that: the case should be tried,. and 

that the. complainant Should be found. That was 

the only instruction that I gave in this case. 

Whether that instruction resulted in the producti 

of the complainant and. the trial of, this case, the 

facts can best determine. 

This defendant is charged here .with larceny - 

from the person in the streets of New .York.. 

have procured from the Tombs a list of other 

women of her color, who are now there awaiting tria 

and I find that there are ten others Charged With 

the same offense. She is the third cOlored woman 
a: • 041.1,4€48.e 

who has been convicted of 4.11.1.se offense during thi 

term in this Part of the Court, that as, robbing 

..1".••• 
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men in the streets of New York.. 

ThiS 'defendant, by her own admission, has 

. served two .terms in the prisons of Illinois. She 

started on her criminal career in, 1888. - She is 

known to the police of two cities, New York and 

Chicago. She has been arrested .in New York Olt 

half a dozen times, and, despite the warnings o 

. the police, she persisted in remaining here and in 

robbing men. I agree with you, in a certain 

respect that, at times,- the  Court ought to give a 

defendant an opportunity to reform and I think, 

.

 

without saying it in a spirit • of egotism, that -My. 

record on the Bench during my .career of. four year 

here will show that I have suspended sentence as 

often as the facts would •warrant. This defendant, 

however, as I say, has had the opportunity to re--

form but she has failed to °take advantage of that 

opportunity 

'Sentences are imposed often not so much to 

punish as to have -a deterring effect upon others; 

, and I propose, In the imposition of this sentence, 

to give notice to those of her kind that the city 

of New York is not the proper _place for them; and 

my object in imposing sentence is  not only to pun--



.1sh this defendant, but, at the seine im to Ir.ve 

a.deterring. effect  upon others. 

Upon the conviotion in this oa.se I will s611--

tence, her to the State Prison at Auburn for the 

term - of eight years. 
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